Traumatic brain injury in dogs and cats: a systematic review

L.O. Dos Santos¹, G.G. Caldas², C.R.O. Santos^{2*}, D.B. Junior²

ABSTRACT: Traumatic brain injury occurs frequently in dogs and cats due to motor vehicle accidents, falls and crush injuries. The primary lesion occurs at the time of injury and causes direct, irreversible damage to the brain parenchyma and vasculature. Secondary lesions occur in the minutes following the trauma due to a combination of physical and biochemical changes that lead to intracranial hypertension. Therefore, knowing the pathophysiology of the cranioencephalic trauma is essential for treatment directed at minimising secondary damage. The approach to the patient affected by traumatic brain injury is based on the ABCD of trauma, guided by the neurological examination with the aid of imaging exams and adequate therapeutic measures. The treatment of patients with cranioencephalic trauma is still in many ways controversial. For that reason, this literature review aims to address the main points regarding the pathophysiology of this disease and to describe the clinical and surgical therapeutic options currently available.

Keywords: head injury; small animals; pathophysiology; treatment

Contents

- 1. Pathophysiology
 - 1.1 Primary injury
 - 1.2 Secondary injury
- 2. Patient assessment
- 3. Treatment
 - 3.1 Intracranial pressure control
 - 3.2 Fluid therapy
 - 3.3 Oxygenation

- 3.4 Osmotic diuretics
- 3.5 Hypothermia
- 3.6 Hyperventilation
- 3.7 Glucocorticoids
- 3.8 Anticonvulsants
- 3.9 Pain management
- 3.10 Decompressive surgery
- 4. Prognosis
- 5. References

1. Pathophysiology

An understanding of the pathophysiology is essential in guiding and evaluating treatment success in traumatic brain injury (TBI). High-speed injuries involving rapid acceleration and deceleration, especially when there is no rotating element, result in shear forces at the border between the white matter and the grey neocortical matter. This shear force can cause generalised lesions in the axonal structure, known as diffuse axonal lesions (DAL), which

are a determinant for cerebral oedema (Helmy et al. 2007). The damage resulting from this injury can be separated into two categories, chronologically divided into primary and secondary injury.

1.1 Primary injury

The primary injury occurs immediately after trauma as a direct consequence of the physical insult. Its extent depends on the type and intensity of

¹Metropolitan Union for Education and Culture, UNIME, Salvador, Brazil

²Veterinary Hospital of the Federal University San Francisco Valley, Petrolina, Brazil

^{*}Corresponding author: cassiareginavet@yahoo.com.br

the impact force and can involve inevitable and intractable damage to the cerebral parenchyma, such as surface contusions (i.e. bruising where the pia is intact; O'Connor et al. 2011), bruises, haemorrhage, lacerations (i.e. where the pia is torn; O'Connor et al. 2011) and DAL, (Czosnyka and Pickard 2004; Portella et al. 2005; Helmy et al. 2007). The most severe forms of primary brain injury are lacerations, and vasogenic oedema may also occur if there is a direct vascular injury followed by intracranial haemorrhage. The occurrence of cranial fractures can generate cerebral trauma that damages the parenchyma and blood vessels, making clinical management impossible and increasing the odds that the patient will die (Sande and West 2010; Dewey and Fletcher 2015). Hence, the professional must be able to adequately prevent, recognise and treat secondary injuries (Sande and West 2010) since primary injury is essentially an irreversible event (O'Connor et al. 2011).

1.2 Secondary injury

Secondary lesions occur in the minutes or even days following trauma and involve the activation of several biomechanical mechanisms that together act to perpetuate brain lesions and whose course is a determining factor for the patient's prognosis (Sande and West 2010). The main determinants of high mortality in TBI are the severity of the primary lesions and complications from the secondary lesions that cause cerebral ischaemia triggering intracranial hypertension, systemic hypotension, hypoxia, hyperpyrexia, hypercapnia, hypoglycaemia and a focal lesion, such as subdural haematoma, that is an indicative of a lesion in the brain parenchyma (Helmy et al. 2007). Another aggravating factor is multiple trauma with haemorrhage and brain oedema that are responsible for the appearance of secondary autolytic processes that eventually lead to death (Rabelo et al. 2010).

Cerebral oedema may be due to a non-specific response to brain insults such as trauma, cell damage and ischaemia that can disturb Starling's law. Starling's law states that the greater the volume of blood received by the ventricle during diastole, the greater the blood volume ejected into the arteries during systole. Thus, imbalances in Starling's law can lead to accumulation of fluid in the brain parenchyma, worsening the oedema (Varella-

Hernandez et al. 2002). From a physiological and morphological point of view, this accumulation of fluid in the encephalon can generate a vasogenic oedema (Klatzo 1994). Vasogenic oedema occurs due to direct vascular damage, causing an increase in vascular permeability and consequent extravasation of plasma fluids and proteins out into the intravascular space, which then accumulate in the cerebral parenchyma, causing an increase in volume (Varella-Hernandez et al. 2002).

Physical insults can trigger an inflammatory process in the central nervous system due to the loss of stability of the blood-brain barrier, which is essential in regulating the access of cells and macromolecules from the periphery to the central nervous system. Lymphocytes, macrophages and microglia cells are potent generators of reactive molecules and mediators of inflammation such as adhesion molecules, metalloproteinases, chemokines and cytokines. The combination of systemic insults, such as pneumothorax, haemothorax, rib fractures, pulmonary contusions and intracranial physical and biochemical changes are responsible for the genesis of secondary lesions such as haematomas, intracranial hypertension, infection, hypoxia, oedema and cerebral ischaemia. Axial haematomas within the cerebral parenchyma and extra-axial subarachnoid, subdural and epidural haematomas lead to compression of the brain with subsequent neurological dysfunction (Vandevelde 2004).

Physical trauma triggers biochemical pathways that work together to perpetuate damage to brain tissue. Secondary intracranial injury is mediated by increased activity of excitatory neurotransmitters such as glutamate and aspartate, which are released in large quantities immediately after trauma, accelerating metabolic activity and subsequently leading to depletion of ATP (adenosine triphosphate), with consequent failure of the sodium and potassium (Na/K) pump and intracellular calcium and sodium accumulation in the neurons. Depolarisation leads to a greater release of the aforementioned neurotransmitters which mediate further increases in intracellular calcium through secondary messengers and proteolytic enzymes, creating an osmotic gradient and promoting water diffusion. This event is called cytotoxic oedema. Other factors responsible for the genesis of secondary lesions are the generation of reactive oxygen species and the release of inflammatory cytokines. Reactive oxygen species arise due to local tissue

acidosis and hypoperfusion and are detrimental to cell membranes; particularly destructive are hydroxyl radicals, which have a great capacity to remove hydrogen atoms from the methylene group of polyunsaturated fatty acids, thereby initiating lipid peroxidation. The resulting oxidation of lipids in the cell membrane alters permeability and leads to dysfunction. As brain tissue is rich in lipids, it is particularly susceptible and sensitive to oxidative injury. The release of cytokines activates the arachidonic acid cascade and the coagulation cascade, destabilising the blood-brain barrier and inducing nitric oxide production. This is responsible for excessive vasodilatation, leading to loss of pressure autoregulation (Varella-Hernandez et al. 2002; Sande and West 2010).

The relationship between volume and intracranial pressure is non-linear. The Monro-Kellie doctrine states that the skull is a closed, inelastic compartment containing three components, cerebral parenchyma (80%), arterial and venous blood (10%) and cerebrospinal fluid (10%), that under normal circumstances exist in a state of dynamic equilibrium. An increase in the volume of any of these components should be compensated for by a decrease in one or more of the others; otherwise, an increase in intracranial pressure is unavoidable (Sande and West 2010). When compensatory mechanisms fail to maintain the equilibrium between these components, there is an increase in intracranial volume, which causes compression of the cerebral vasculature with consequent intracranial hypertension and reduced cerebral blood flow (CBF). There is then an increase in carbon dioxide, which is locally detected at the vasomotor centre, and which then initiates a sympathetic nervous system response that results in increased ejection volume and heart rate. This results in increased mean arterial pressure (MAP) in an attempt to increase cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP). Systemic hypertension is detected by baroreceptors, located in the walls of the carotid arteries and aortic arch, resulting in a reflex bradycardia. This mechanism is known as the cerebral ischaemic response or the Cushing reflex (Dunn 2002; Laffey and Kavanagh 2002; Portella et al. 2005; Stocchetti et al. 2005; Sande and West 2010).

The mechanism behind cerebral compliance is essential to avoid an increase in intracranial pressure. Cerebral perfusion pressure should be kept close to normal since low levels are detrimental to intracranial volume balance. CPP can be defined in the following formula:

CPP = MAP - ICP

where: CPP = cerebral perfusion pressure; MAP = mean arterial pressure; ICP = intracranial pressure

Thus, blood pressure is important to maintain CBF, especially in circumstances where cerebrovascular autoregulation has been impaired, such as after TBI. However, even if autoregulation is intact, changes in blood pressure and intracranial pressure may alter blood volume as a result of dilation or constriction of cerebral blood vessels (Dunn 2002; Rabelo et al. 2010; Cooper et al. 2011). CPP is the main determinant of cerebral blood flow and thus, brain oxygenation and nutritional support depend on it (Vandevelde 2004).

Although the brain constitutes only 2% of the body weight, it consumes 15% of cardiac output, 20% of inhaled oxygen and more than 25% of glucose. There are two phases in CBF autoregulation which together ensure the constancy required for the fulfilment of the oxygen and glucose requirements of brain tissue. The first one, related to autoregulation of blood pressure, allows maintenance of CBF during constant variations of MAP between 50 and 120 mm Hg. Thus, increases in MAP leads to vasoconstriction and decreased vasodilation in the brain. These changes occur due to logarithmic vasoreactivity to changes in CPP. The second phase is metabolic autoregulation in response to hypercapnia, which causes vasodilation, decreased cerebral vascular resistance and hypoxia. Levels of O₂ lower than 60 mm Hg induce vasodilation, thus increasing CBF (Yates and Roberts 2000). CBF increases with vasodilation and decreases with constriction of cerebral arterioles, termed cerebral resistance vessels. These vessels respond to changes in systemic blood pressure (autoregulation of pressure), blood viscosity (autoregulation of viscosity) and metabolic demand, keeping CBF levels within the limits that are appropriate to meet the metabolic demands of brain tissue (Varella-Hernandez et al. 2002).

The intravascular pressure and its effect on cerebral blood volume not only affects intracranial pressure, but also the mechanical properties of the brain and the capacity of the intracranial space to "fit" in its place, and low levels of blood can be detrimental to the intracranial volume balance (Rabelo

et al. 2010). The CPP acts as the pressure gradient that acts on the cerebrovascular circulation, and so it is important in the regulation of the CBF and required to keep it at constant levels (Dunn 2002).

2. Patient assessment

Due to the scarcity of prospective or retrospective clinical data in the veterinary literature, treatment recommendations for dogs and cats with TBI are mainly based on human and experimental studies. Also, trauma patients are usually polytraumatised and the initial approach to trauma should be based on ABCD (airway, breathing, cardiovascular condition and neurological dysfunctions) and clinical approach (anamnesis, physical examination, neurological examination, stabilising the patient and complementary exams). For this reason, emergency management is critical to stabilise the patient and should be directed towards optimising cerebral perfusion and oxygenation and avoiding secondary injury (Menon 1999; Platt and Olby 2004; Assis 2005; Dewey and Fletcher 2008; Gomes and Neutel 2008). The modified Glasgow coma scale (da Costa and Dewey 2015) was adapted to veterinary medicine in order to classify the neurological status of a patient with TBI and perform serial monitoring over a 72hour period (Platt 2008). This scale is divided into three categories of neurological examination consisting of level of consciousness, motor activity and brainstem reflexes, and each category can receive a score of one to six points, giving a total of three to 18 points. The best prognosis is associated with the highest score, and low scores are associated with a high mortality rate, with less than 50% chance of survival in a 72-hour period (Platt and Olby 2004). This scoring system provides an estimate of the initial assessment, response to treatment, evaluates therapeutic choices and provides a prognosis.

After the initial approach focusing on the trauma, patient stabilisation and initial evaluation using the modified Glasgow coma scale, anamnesis should be performed, consisting of logical and direct questions aiming at finding the cause of the trauma, the mental state soon after injury, whether seizures are present, whether there was emesis and whether the patient was able to walk immediately after trauma. Once these questions have been answered, the clinician must start the physical examination. This should be done methodically and meticulously,

avoiding excessive manipulation of the head, neck and vertebral column because the patient may have lesions and/or fractures that have not been detected. The examination should be initially carried out using an otoscope, in order to verify the integrity of the tympanic membrane. The presence of a clear fluid, hyaline, often mixed with blood, can be determined by investigating flow in the external acoustic meatus or through the nostrils, which characterise otoliquorrhea and rhinoliquorrhea, respectively. These are associated with violent trauma that affect the bone at the base of the skull and are suggestive of fracture with formation of cerebrospinal fluid fistula due to simultaneous rupture of the meninges. Also, hemotympanum may be found associated with fracture of the temporal bone. Ophthalmoscopy should also be performed to diagnose scleral bleeding, an important finding in patients with TBI, since it may reflect cerebral and/or meningeal haemorrhage (Laffey and Kavanagh 2002; Stocchetti et al. 2005).

Animals with TBI may exhibit clinical signs similar to those with a multifocal neurological syndrome, as there may be lesions in various compartments of the brain. These types of lesions can generate different behavioural states, ranging from completely normal appearance after a short period of unconsciousness to coma, stupor, delirium or depression (Syring et al. 2001; Braund 2003). The neurological evaluation of the patient should consist of a cautious evaluation of the patient's state of consciousness (AVPU Scale), respiratory pattern, pupil size and responsiveness, ocular position and movement, muscle tone, proprioceptive tests when possible, evaluation of cranial nerves and the search for a possible pain focus (Bagley 2005; Sande and West 2010). The AVPU scale (Table 1) has fewer variables than the Glasgow coma scale and consists of assessing the patient's state of consciousness by classifying their clinical status using scores from 1 to 4: the patient is alert, the patient responds to verbal stimulation, the patient responds to painful stimuli, the patient does not respond (Rabelo

Table 1. AVPU Scale (Adapted from Rabelo 2008)

Score	State of consciousness
A-1	the patient is alert
V-2	the patient responds to verbal stimulation
P-3	the patient responds to painful stimuli
U-4	the patient does not respond

2008). The modified Glasgow coma scale, however, not only evaluates the patient's state of consciousness, but also takes into account motor activity and brainstem reflexes. A neurological evaluation should be performed, preferably before administration of any drugs with a sedative effect, to determine the location of the lesion as well as its severity and evolution. Imaging may also help in this stage, especially in animals that are not responsive to drug treatment (Siqueira et al. 2013; Dewey and Fletcher 2015).

Computed tomography (CT) is the diagnostic method of choice for patients with TBI, since images are obtained faster compared to magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and there is better visualization of acute haemorrhages and bone structures, providing fundamental information to determine the prognosis (da Costa and Dewey 2015). On CT, haemorrhage appears as hyperattenuating (hyperdense) in the acute stages, and over time, its density decreases with clot resorption, creating a hypoattenuating lesion which could be confused with brain oedema (Platt et al. 2016). Conversely, CT might present some disadvantages, such as exposure to ionising radiation, poor soft tissue detail and poor visualisation of brain and subtle parenchymal lesions that are better observed on MRI (da Costa and Dewey 2015). The identification of haematomas or haemorrhage, parenchymal contusions and oedema are easily identified on MRI. This diagnostic method provides better visualisation of subtle parenchymal changes and provides valuable information to facilitate the prognosis (Platt et al. 2016).

Radiographic examination is also important in the diagnosis of TBI, since pulmonary haemorrhage, pulmonary contusion and pneumothorax may be present in the thorax, but it is not useful in the identification of brain lesions and may only reveal the presence of fractures with depression of the calvaria (Branco 2011; Siqueira et al. 2013). Spinal radiographs may also be essential in patients with TBI, as it aids in the detection of spinal injuries (Silva 2013).

Laboratory analyses include haematological and biochemical analyses that vary with clinical presentation of the patient, blood gas analysis, serum electrolytes and serum osmolarity (Silva 2013). Collection of cerebrospinal fluid is contraindicated because if the patient has an elevated intracranial pressure, puncture favours encephalic herniation (Branco 2011).

3. Treatment

Treatment for traumatic brain injury is still controversial and also still based on human and experimental studies as well as on the personal experiences of professionals. The Brain Trauma Foundation (BTF), in collaboration with the American Association of Neurological Surgeons, has established that insufficient data does not permit standardisation of treatment for TBI or a single treatment guideline in terms of initial patient assessment. It is based, however, on resuscitation and quick stabilisation of the patient, which should follow five principles: normocapnia, normoxia, normotension, normothermia and normoglycaemia (Braund 2003; Girling 2004; Platt and Olby 2004; Dewey and Fletcher 2008; Sande and West 2010; Dewey and Fletcher 2015).

3.1 Intracranial pressure control

The most frequent cause of death and disability in animals with traumatic brain injury is elevated intracranial pressure, as this leads to dysfunction of blood flow in the brain, causing hypoxia and ischaemia (Lubillo et al. 2009; Cecil et al. 2011).

A simple but effective procedure to aid the control of intracranial pressure is to position the patient's head at a 30-degree angle to the body, which provides a greater arterial supply to the brain, as well as greater venous drainage (Figure 1). Care must be taken to not compress the jugular vein since this leads to an immediate increase in intracranial pressure (Platt 2008). Care should also be taken to position the head properly by placing a support just below the head in order to decrease the chances of aspiration into the lower airways leading to complications, since these patients are predisposed to regurgitation. Therefore, it is preferable to elevate the head of the animal by placing a support under its shoulders, so in case of reflux, the contents may be expelled out of the mouth (Opperman 2014).

3.2 Fluid therapy

Fluid therapy has the objective of creating a state of normovolemia or a mild state of hypervolemia since the restoration of the blood volume is essential in the control of the tension and pressure of



Figure 1. Stray cat with traumatic brain injury caused by car accident Reproduced with permission from the University Veterinary Hospital of the Federal University of San Francisco Valley. The patient was in an incubator to maintain body temperature and oxygen therapy. The head was elevated to a 30-degree angle, providing greater arterial supply to the brain as well as greater venous drainage

cerebral perfusion. There is usually concern about the aggressive use of fluid therapy in hypotensive patients on the basis that this could worsen the cerebral oedema; however, studies refute this theory and state that the use of fluid therapy in the patient with brain injury is beneficial for the oedematous brain, even if high volumes of crystalloids are used (Dewey and Fletcher 2015).

Initial resuscitation is performed with the use of hypertonic saline solutions or synthetic colloids, as they allow a rapid return to normal blood volume and blood pressure while limiting the volume of fluid administered. Hypertonic saline solution has shown excellent results in the initial resuscitation of patients with TBI, and its recommended dose is 4 to 6 ml/kg of 7.5% NaCl for 10 to 15 minutes. If an artificial colloid is added, the effect of the hypertonic saline solution is prolonged for hours. In cases of shock, synthetic colloids should be given at a dose of 10-20 ml/kg, to effect (Dewey and Fletcher 2008; Sande and West 2010; Rainey and Odunayo 2015). If the patient presents severe anaemia, it is recommended to transfuse with whole blood or packed red blood cells, so that blood volume is maintained and tissue hypoxia is prevented. The haematocrit should be increased from 25 to 30% in order to achieve the purpose of this therapy (Dewey and Fletcher 2008; Sande and West 2010; Lorenz et al. 2011).

The use of isotonic crystalloids is less efficient when compared to the hypertonic ones, since they rapidly suffer extravasation to the interstitium, requiring a greater volume to restore blood volume, which may exacerbate the patient's cerebral oedema (Platt 2008). However, isotonic crystalloids can be used to replace diuresis caused by some drugs, such as mannitol, and to tackle the dehydration caused by the use of hypertonic solutions, with doses of at most 90 ml/kg/h for dogs and 40 to 60 ml/kg/h for cats (Verneau 2005). The use of solutions containing glucose is contraindicated since the patient with cranioencephalic trauma presents deficient tissue oxygenation and this could lead to the formation of lactic acid by anaerobic glycolysis in turn causing metabolic acidosis (Fernandez and Bernardino 2010).

3.3 Oxygenation

Oxygenation is a highly recommended therapeutic method in patients with TBI to maintain the partial pressure of oxygen (PO₂) in arterial blood as close as possible to normal (80 mm Hg). Oxygen can initially be offered to the patient via a mask, but this may subject the animal to stress and is inefficient for patient monitoring. It should be replaced by a nasal catheter that may only be placed close to the nostrils and not introduced, or a transtracheal tube, through which oxygen at 40% concentration is provided at flow rates of 100 ml/kg/min and 50 ml/kg/min, respectively. If in a comatose state, the patient should be immediately intubated and ventilated according to the needs

indicated by blood gas analysis (Platt 2008; Dewey and Fletcher 2015).

Although hyperoxygenation is recommended for patients with TBI, caution should be taken, as studies have reported adverse effects that include changes in non-damaged tissues, cerebral hyperoxic vasoconstriction, inhibition of metabolic enzymes and formation of free oxygen radicals (Floyd et al. 2003; Magnoni et al. 2003; McLeod et al. 2003). Recent studies have demonstrated that extreme hyperoxaemia in a patient with head injury is inefficient in accelerating the recovery process and may, through several mechanisms, increase brain injury (Davis et al. 2009).

Hyperbaric oxygen therapy is a therapy that is currently gaining in popularity for the treatment of neurologic diseases; it consists of inhaling 100% oxygen under pressures greater than 1 absolute atmosphere (ATM). Studies in experimental models have shown that this procedure is capable of inhibiting apoptosis and suppressing inflammation, thus protecting the integrity of the blood-brain barrier and promoting angiogenesis and neurogenesis with pressures below 3 ATM, but its clinical efficacy is still controversial in humans because of the heterogeneity of TBI (Braswell and Crowe 2012; Sanchez 2013; Hu et al. 2016).

3.4 Osmotic diuretics

Hyperosmotic therapy consists of the administration of a substance that can create an osmotic gradient that makes the water from the extracellular and intracellular compartments move into the vessels. This osmotic gradient will therefore promote a reduction in intracranial pressure by reducing intracranial volume and improving complacency (Raslan and Bhardwaj 2007).

Mannitol is classified as an osmotic diuretic. Its main and most efficient mechanism of action is the promotion of the vasoconstriction reflex through a reduction in blood viscosity, which reduces intracranial pressure. Another mechanism of action of mannitol is a decrease in the production of cerebrospinal fluid, and the difference in osmolarity leads to drainage of extravascular fluid into the intravascular space, reducing oedema (Dewey and Fletcher 2015). The vasoconstriction reflex occurs in a few minutes and is faster than the osmotic effect caused by mannitol. This drug is administered

exclusively intravenously, and it is excreted by the kidneys without being metabolised or resorbed in the tubules. Its administration dose is 0.5 to 2 g/kg in bolus, but slowly, in a range of 15 to 20 minutes, every 3 to 6 hours, with a maximum of three boluses in 24 hours, at room temperature, preferably using a filter to prevent the formation of crystals (Gomes 2011; Dewey and Fletcher 2015; Rainey 2015).

Complications associated with the use of mannitol in the treatment of TBI involve renal and neurological impairment. When it is used repeatedly at osmolarity values that exceed 320 mOsm/l, it increases the diuresis and can lead to dehydration, which may lead to systemic hypotension, ischaemia and hyperkalaemia. Prolonged use may also lead to osmotic flow reversal due to increased extravascular concentration, exacerbating intracranial oedema and elevating intracranial pressure (Bullock 1995; BTF 2007a; Dewey and Fletcher 2008).

The use of furosemide in patients with TBI is controversial. It was believed that this drug used in combination with mannitol could help increase diuresis and decrease hypertension. However, it has now been reported that the combination of furosemide and mannitol, or furosemide alone, did not result in any benefit to the patient, and may cause greater depletion of the intravascular volume, altering parameters such as heart rate, mean arterial pressure, central venous pressure, potassium, urea, haematocrit or base deficit (Sande and West 2010; DiFazio and Fletcher 2013; Dewey and Fletcher 2015).

3.5 Hypothermia

Therapeutic hypothermia is also a treatment method that can be used in patients who have suffered traumatic brain injury, since the development of several secondary lesions is temperature-dependent. The mechanism of action for hypothermia is based on a decrease of body temperature to 32–34 °C in order to reduce the release of excitotoxic amino acids and the production of proinflammatory cytokines as well as a decrease in excitatory signals that can result in cell death. As such, it would prevent necrosis and cell apoptosis, and reduce the formation of cerebral oedema and rupture of the blood-brain barrier (Hayes 2009; Sadaka and Veremakis 2012; McCarthy et al. 2013).

There have been studies in humans that have also revealed the efficacy of therapeutic hypothermia as a neuroprotectant after intracranial haemorrhage, and it has been reported to decrease the formation of oedema (MacLellan et al. 2006; Fingas et al. 2007; Kawanishi et al. 2008).

A decrease in body temperature involves adverse effects. Studies in human adults and children have shown that there was no improvement in the neurological status of patients undergoing this treatment, but comparative studies have shown some efficacy in reducing intracranial pressure in children; therefore, this treatment may be considered (Clifton et al. 2001; Hutchison et al. 2008).

3.6 Hyperventilation

Hyperventilation is used to reduce intracranial pressure by reducing the partial pressure of CO_2 (Pa CO_2), which consequently promotes brain vasoconstriction and subsequent reduction of brain blood volume. However, the use of this therapy is controversial as it can cause severe reduction of the cerebral circulation when values of $\mathrm{Pa}\mathrm{CO}_2$ are smaller than 30–35 mm Hg. The patient should be ventilated to maintain $\mathrm{Pa}\mathrm{CO}_2$ between 30–40 mm Hg, avoiding hypoventilation. Hyperventilation by itself can have deleterious effects related to cerebral vasculature dilatation in patients with high intracranial pressure, secondary to induced hypercapnia (White et al. 2001; Platt 2008; Dewey and Fletcher 2015).

3.7 Glucocorticoids

Currently, the use of glucocorticoids (GC) in the treatment of patients with cranioencephalic trauma is not recommended in human or veterinary medicine. Despite contributing to a reduction in cerebral oedema secondary to other causes, such as neoplasia, in patients with TBI, GCs lead to an increase in mortality. This was evaluated mainly by the use of methylprednisolone, which led to hyperglycaemia, immunosuppression, wound healing delay, gastric ulcers and acceleration of the catabolic state. It was further associated with a worsening of neuronal damage in the presence of ischaemia due to increased exposure to metabolic insults, and its association with inhibition of the remyelination of

injured neurons was also noted (Platt 2008; Sande and West 2010; Gaitero 2011).

The functional mechanisms of corticosteroids are increasingly well understood and it is now known that these drugs are more efficacious in the treatment of the vasogenic type of oedema when compared to the cytotoxic one. Recent studies have shown that, despite the being effective *in vitro*, corticosteroids were not effective when used *in vivo*. Therefore, due to the lack of a complete understanding of the functional mechanisms of corticosteroids in cerebral metabolism in TBI and of a specific diagnostic test to determine the type of oedema present in such patients, their use is not yet recommended (Hoshide et al. 2016).

3.8 Anticonvulsants

Seizures are common in patients who have suffered TBI. They can be divided into three categories: immediate, occurring up to 24 hours after the trauma; early, from 24 hours to seven days after the trauma; and late, after seven days, depending on the severity of the lesion, the presence of cranial fractures, epidural, subdural, parenchymal haematoma and penetrating wounds (Bratton et al. 2007; Platt 2008; Sande and West 2010). The occurrence of seizures in patients with TBI should be treated aggressively as they lead to an elevation of intracranial pressure, worsening the patient's clinical condition. Diazepam is the drug of choice for the treatment of seizures, since it has a fast action and reliable efficacy at doses of 0.5 to 1.0 mg/kg which can be repeated in intervals of 5 to 10 minutes for three to four doses (Sande and West 2010; Lorenz et al. 2011).

Other drugs can be used in persistent convulsive episodes. Since diazepam (0.5 to 2 mg/kg) (Platt et al. 2016) does not have a prolonged effect, phenobarbital can be used. Phenobarbital is classified as a sedative and antiepileptic, it has antiapoptotic effects and does not promote changes in cerebral blood flow; therefore, it promotes neuroprotection. Phenobarbital has a latency period of 15 to 20 minutes (Neves et al. 2010) and can be used in doses of 2 to 3 mg/kg *i.v.* followed by a loading dose of 18 to 24 mg/kg parenterally, over a period of 24 to 48 hours. Recently, the use of levetiracetam has shown success in the treatment of emergency seizures due to its rapid effect and efficacy for up

to 8 hours, with low sedative effect. The recommended doses of levetiracetam range from 20 to 60 mg/kg (Platt et al. 2016). The use of prophylactic anticonvulsants may also be indicated in patients with TBI even if there are no seizures, in order to avoid elevation of intracranial pressure. The recommended dose of phenobarbital is 2 mg/kg *i.m.* every 6 to 8 hours for three to six months after trauma, followed by gradual reduction of the dose down to complete cessation if there are no further seizures (Platt 2008).

Thiopental and propofol, both classified as anaesthetics, are also used. They exert anticonvulsant and neuroprotective effects similar to phenobarbital. Thiopental has a rapid action and is used at a dose of 10 mg/kg at 2.5% (Harman et al. 2012). Propofol should be slowly administered intravenously in small animals in a bolus dose of 1 to 6 mg/ kg to control seizures, followed by a dose of 0.1-0.6 mg/kg/min (Thomas 2003). Studies in humans have confirmed the efficacy of prophylactic therapy with anticonvulsants following TBI, which reduces the risk of immediate seizures, but without effects on late convulsions. Therefore, treatment with anticonvulsants in patients with TBI who develop immediate or early seizures should always be used, and prophylactic therapy should be administered for seven days after the initial trauma (Dewey and Fletcher 2015).

3.9 Pain management

Pain management is crucial in the treatment of TBI, as it assists in controlling blood pressure, perfusion and cerebral oxygenation and ultimately in reducing intracranial pressure. Care should be taken to control analgesia, since the depression of these parameters with the elevation of intracranial pressure may result in the worsening of secondary lesions. Opioids are the drugs of choice in the treatment of TBI pain, since their effects are easily reversible and they do not have adverse cardiovascular effects, making them safer. However, one should always take into account their side effects, which include bradycardia, respiratory depression and hypotension, especially when used in high doses (BTF 2007b; Roberts et al. 2012).

The use of morphine should be avoided because it causes emesis as a side effect, which could lead to an elevation in intracranial pressure. The use of fentanyl, a potent analgesic with short duration and fast action, is preferable. It is used in continuous infusion at a dose of $2-5~\mu g/kg/h$ or cutaneous adhesives supplying $2-5~\mu g/kg$. Caution should be taken because its use may lead to a slight increase in intracranial pressure (Raslan and Bhardwaj 2007). If there are side effects, naloxone can be used as an antagonist, reversing the effect of this drug (Armitage-Chan et al. 2006; Sande and West 2010; Opperman 2014).

The opioid agonist-antagonist butorphanol and the partial agonist buprenorphine may be used in the treatment of mild to moderate pain; they cause minor respiratory and cardiovascular changes and are preferably used in cases where the patient already presents with respiratory depression. However, side effects are more difficult to reverse using naloxone compared to opioids (Armitage-Chan et al. 2006; BTF 2007c; Sande and West 2010; Opperman 2014).

3.10 Decompressive surgery

Decompressive craniectomy consists of a surgical technique where a bone flap is removed to be housed for a period in the abdominal subcutaneous tissue, kept in a bone bank or prepared for later cranioplasty with heterologous materials. Durotomy and expansion duroplasty techniques may be associated to reduce ICP, using an autologousaponeurotic galea graft. Decompressive craniectomy promotes a decrease in intracranial pressure and accommodation of the tumefied brain, preventing the onset of intracranial brain hernias and is indicated for patients with cranial fractures, depressed cranial fractures with neurological impairment and recovery of potentially contaminated bone fragments or foreign material housed in the cerebral parenchyma. According to the European Brain Injury Consortium (EBIC) and the Brain Trauma Foundation guidelines, decompressive craniectomy is classified as a second level for the treatment of refractory intracranial hypertension (BTF 2007c; Hutchinson et al. 2007; Cooper et al. 2011).

In general, surgical intervention is well defined in human head-trauma management, whereas it has played a relatively minor role for canines and felines. It is believed that for these animals, significant intracranial haemorrhage is rare, although,

similar to humans, they may experience intracranial haemorrhage manageable via surgery. The increasing availability of CT as a diagnostic method might lead to surgery assuming a larger role in the treatment of traumatic brain injury (da Costa and Dewey 2015).

The aim of surgery is to increase intracranial volume, improve brain compliance, reduce intracranial pressure and elevate cerebral perfusion pressure, thereby elevating cerebral blood flow and cerebral microvascular perfusion. When bone fragments are present and the skull sinking is greater than its thickness, it is recommended to perform decompression via fracture reduction or removal of bone fragments. In the case of acute extra-axial haematomas, craniotomy can be performed. Caution should be taken in the case of excessive bleeding when haematoma is secondary to a venous sinus fracture (Seim 2007; Platt 2008; Siqueira et al. 2013).

However, surgical decompression is controversial, since studies show that decompressive craniectomy may worsen the patient's clinical condition due to increased cerebral oedema and may be associated with cerebral hyperaemia due to an increase in cerebral perfusion pressure after surgery, a decrease in reactivity of cerebral vascular pressure and cerebral inflammation. In addition, decompressive craniectomy in the veterinary patient should be approached with caution since there is neurological impairment even with aggressive drug therapy. Studies have revealed this neurological impairment when comparing patients that underwent the surgical procedure and those who only received clinical treatment; there was a worsening in the modified Glasgow coma scale in those submitted to decompressive craniectomy (Timofeev et al. 2008; Bao et al. 2010; Dewey and Fletcher 2015).

4. Prognosis

Many prognostic factors have been identified in human medicine and have been extrapolated to dogs and cats. The most important ones include age, cause of injury, Glasgow coma scale, neurological examination parameters, presence of subarachnoid haemorrhage and laboratory parameters such as glycaemia and prothrombin time, blood pressure and results found in CT exams. The most common sequelae include coagulopathies, pneumonia, sepsis, diabetes insipidus and posttraumatic epi-

lepsy, behavioural changes, visual deficits and late hydrocephalus. The prognosis in TBI varies from reserved to bad, although dogs and cats have a remarkable ability to regenerate brain tissue (Murray et al. 2007; Sande and West 2010).

Traumatic brain injury occurs frequently in dogs and cats with a high mortality rate, mainly due to the secondary lesions that occur within minutes of the injury. Many therapeutic measures are proposed; however, most are inconsistent as they lack randomised clinical trials that proving their efficacy.

The relevant literature reveals some disagreements regarding the treatment of TBI; however, the authors of published papers are unanimous among that treatment should be multimodal, and there is an intense search to discover new pathways for its treatment. It is clear that the management of TBI should be directed towards restoring cerebral perfusion pressure, thus maintaining blood flow and oxygenation, avoiding an increase in intracranial pressure and minimising elevations in the cerebral metabolic rate.

5. References

Armitage-Chan EA, Wetmore LA, Chan DL (2006): Anesthetic management of the head trauma patient. Journal of Veterinary Emergency and Critical Care 17, 5–14.

Assis DM (2005): Traumatic brain injury in childhood (in Portuguese). In: Melo MCB, Vasconcellos MC (eds): Attention to Emergencies and Emergencies in Pediatrics. Gutenberg Publicacoes, Belo Horizonte. 61–66.

Bagley RS (ed.) (2005): Fundamentals of Veterinary Clinical Neurology. Blackwell publishing, Iowa. 323–349.

Bao YH, Liang YM, Gao GY, Pan YH, Luo QZ, Jiang JY (2010): Bilateral decompressive craniectomy for patients with malignant diffuse brain swelling after severe traumatic brain injury: a 37-case study. Journal of Neurotrauma 27, 341–347.

Branco SEMT (2011): Cranio-encephalic trauma in dogs: literature review (in Portuguese). [PhD Thesis.] Federal University of Minas Gerais. Brazil. 42 pp.

Braswell C, Crowe DT (2012): Hyperbaric oxygen therapy. Compendium on Continuing Education for the Practising Veterinarian 34, 1–5.

Bratton SL, Chestnut RM, Ghajar J, McConnell Hammond FF, Harris OA, Hartl R, Manley GT, Nemecek A, Newell DW, Rosenthal G, Schouten J, Shutter L, Timmons SD, Ullman JS, Videtta W, Wilberger JE, Wright DW (2007): Guidelines for the management of severe traumatic brain

- injury. XIII. Antiseizure prophylaxis. Journal of Neurotrauma 24, 83–86.
- Braund KG (2003): Etiological categories of neurological diseases. In: Braund KG (ed.): Clinical Neurology in Small Animals: Localization, Diagnosis and Treatment. IVIS, New York. Available at www.ivis.org/advances/Vite/braund28/chapter_frm.asp?LA=1 (Accessed: December 12, 2016).
- BTF Brain Trauma Foundation (2007a): Guidelines for the Management of Severe Traumatic Brain Injury. 3rd edn. Mary Ann Liebert, New York.
- BTF Brain Trauma Foundation (2007b): Guidelines for prehospital management of traumatic brain injury. National Association of State EMS Officials T, National Association of EMTs. Prehospital Emergency Care 12, 1–52.
- BTF Brain Trauma Foundation (2007c): Guidelines for the management of severe traumatic brain injury. American Association of Neurological Surgeons, Congress of Neurological Surgeons. Journal of Neurotrauma 24, 1–106.
- Bullock R (1995): Mannitol and other diuretics in severe neurotrauma. New Horizons (Baltimore, Md.) 3, 448– 451.
- Cecil S, Chen PM, Callaway SE, Rowland SM, Adler DE, Chen JW (2011): Traumatic brain injury: advanced multimodal neuromonitoring from theory to clinical practice. Critical Care Nurse 31, 25–37.
- Clifton GL, Miller ER, Choi SC, Levin HS, McCauley S, Smith KR, Muizelaar P, Wagner F, Marion DW, Luerssen TG, Chesnut RM, Schwartz M (2001): Lack of effect of induction of hypothermia after acute brain injury. New England Journal of Medicine 344, 556–563.
- Cooper DJ, Rosenfeld JV, Murray L, Arabi YM, Davies AR, D'Urso P, Kossmann T, Ponsford J, Seppelt I, Reilly P, Wolfe R (2011): Decompressive craniectomy in diffuse traumatic brain injury. New England Journal of Medicine 364, 1493–1502.
- Czosnyka M, Pickard JD (2004): Monitoring and interpretation of intracranial pressure. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry 75, 813–821.
- da Costa RC, Dewey CW (2015): Differential diagnosis. In: Dewey CW, da Costa RC (eds): Practical Guide to Canine and Feline Neurology. 3rd edn. Wiley Blackwell. 53–60.
- Davis DP, Meade W, Sise MJ, Kennedy F, Simon F, Tominaga G, Steele J, Coimbra R (2009): Both hypoxemia and extreme hyperoxemia may be detrimental in patients with severe traumatic brain injury. Journal of Neurotrauma 26, 2217–2223.
- Dewey CW, Fletcher DJ (2008): Head trauma management. In: Dewey CW (ed.): A Practical Guide to Canine and Feline Neurology. 2nd edn. Willey-Blackwell, Iowa. 221–235.

- Dewey CW, Fletcher DJ (2015): Head-trauma management. In: Dewey CW, da Costa RC (eds): Practical Guide to Canine and Feline Neurology. 3rd edn. Wiley Blackwell. 237–248.
- DiFazio J, Fletcher DJ (2013): Updates in the management of the small animal patient with neurologic trauma. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Small Animal Practice 43, 915–940.
- Dunn LT (2002): Raised intracranial pressure. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry 73, 23.
- Fernandez VL, Bernardino M (2010): Injuries (in Portuguese). In: Fernandez VL, Bernardini M (eds): Neurology in Dogs and Cats.1st edn. MedVet, Sao Paulo. 209–225.
- Fingas M, Clark DL, Colbourne F (2007): The effects of selective brain hypothermia on intracerebral hemorrhage in rats. Experimental Neurology 208, 277–284.
- Floyd TF, Clark JM, Gelfand R, Detre JA, Ratcliffe S, Guvakov D, Lambertsen CJ, Eckenhoff RG (2003): Independent cerebral vasoconstrictive effects of hyperoxia and accompanying arterial hypocapnia at 1 ATA. Journal of Applied Physiology 95, 2453–2461.
- Gaitero L (2011): Corticosteroids in the treatment of CNS diseases in the dog. In: Proceedings of the Southern European Veterinary Conference. Southern European Veterinary Conference, Barcelona.
- Girling K (2004): Management of head injury in the intensive-care unit. Continuing Education in Anaesthesia. Critical Care and Pain 4, 52–56.
- Gomes E, Neutel E (2008): Trauma brain injury (TBI) (in Portuguese). In: Carneiro AH, Neutel E (eds): Course of Emergency Evidence: Manual of Procedures. 1st edn. Pfizer, Porto. 267–283.
- Gomes PMB (2011): Cranial trauma: contribution of decompressive craniectomy to the survival of canine patients with traumatic intracranial hypertension refractory to medical treatment retrospective study (in Portuguese). [Master Thesis.] Technical University of Lisbon. 115 pp.
- Harman F, Hasturk AE, Yaman M, Arca T, Kilinc K, Sargon MF, Kaptanoglu E (2012): Neuroprotective effects of propofol, thiopental, etomidate and midazolam in fetal rat brain in ischemia-reperfusion model. Child's Nervous System 28, 1055–1062.
- Hayes G (2009): Severe seizures associated with traumatic brain injury managed by controlled hypothermia, pharmacologic coma, and mechanical ventilation in a dog. Journal of Veterinary Emergency and Critical Care 19, 629–634.
- Helmy A, Vizcaychipi M, Gupta AK (2007): Traumatic brain injury: intensive care management. British Journal of Anaesthesia 99, 32–42.

- Hoshide R, Cheung V, Marshall L, Kasper E, Chen CC (2016): Do corticosteroids play a role in the management of traumatic brain injury? Surgical Neurology International 7, 84.
- Hu Q, Manaenko A, Xu T, Guo Z, Tang J, Zhang JH (2016): Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for traumatic brain injury: bench-to-bedside. Medical Gas Research 6, 102–110.
- Hutchinson P, Timofeev I, Kirkpatrick P (2007): Surgery for brain edema. Neurosurgery Focus 22, 14.
- Hutchison JS, Ward RE, Lacroix J, Hebert PC, Barnes MA, Bohn DJ, Dirks PB, Doucette S, Fergusson D, Gottesman R, Joffe AR, Kirpalani HM, Meyer PG, Morris KP, Moher D, Singh RN, Skippen PW (2008): Hypothermia therapy after traumatic brain injury in children. New England Journal of Medicine 358, 2447–2456.
- Kawanishi M, Kawai N, Nakamura T, Luo C, Tamiya T, Nagao S (2008): Effect of delayed mild brain hypothermia on edema formation after intracerebral hemorrhage in rats. Journal of Stroke and Cerebrovascular Diseases 17, 187–195.
- Klatzo I (1994): Evolution of brain edema concepts. Acta Neurochirurgica 60, 3–6.
- Laffey JG, Kavanagh BP (2002): Hypocapnia. New England Journal of Medicine 347, 43–53.
- Lorenz MD, Coates JR, Kent M (2011): Stupor or coma. In: Lorenz MD, Coates JR, Kent M (eds): Handbook of Veterinary Neurology. 5th edn. Elsevier. 346–383.
- Lubillo S, Blanco J, Lopez P, Molina I, Dominguez J, Carreira L, Manzano JJ (2009): Role of decompressive craniectomy in the neurocritical patient (in Portuguese). Journal of Medical Internet Research 33, 74–83.
- MacLellan CL, Davies LM, Fingas MS, Colbourne F (2006): The influence of hypothermia on outcome after intracerebral hemorrhage in rats. Stroke 37, 1266–1270.
- Magnoni S, Ghisoni L, Locatelli M, Caimi M, Colombo A, Valeriani V, Stocchetti N (2003): Lack of improvement in cerebral metabolism after hyperoxia in severe head injury: a microdialysis study. Journal of Neurosurgery 98, 952–958.
- McCarthy P, Scott LK, Ganta CV, Minagar A (2013): Hypothermic protection in traumatic brain injury. Pathophysiology 20, 735–757.
- McLeod AD, Igielman F, Elwell C, Cope M, Smith M (2003): Measuring cerebral oxygenation during normobarichyperoxia: a comparison of tissue microprobes, near-infrared spectroscopy, and jugular venous oximetry in head injury. Anesthesia and Analgesia 97, 851–856.
- Menon DK (1999): Cerebral protection in severe brain injury: physiological determinants of outcome and their optimization. British Medical Bulletin 55, 226–258.
- Murray GD, Butcher I, Mchugh GS, Lu J, Mushkudiani NA, Maas AIR, Marmarou A, Steyerberg EW (2007): Multivariable prognostic analysis in traumatic brain injury:

- Results from the IMPACT study. Journal of Neurotrauma 24, 329–337.
- Neves IV, Tudury EA, Costa RC (2010): Drugs used to treat neurological disorders in dogs and cats (in Portuguese). Semina: Ciencias Agrarias, Londrina 31, 745–766.
- O'Connor WT, Smyth A, Gilchrist MD (2011): Animal models of traumatic brain injury: A critical evaluation. Pharmacology and Therapeutics 130, 106–113.
- Opperman E (2014): Head trauma in the feline patient an update. Veterinary Nursing Journal 29, 194–197.
- Platt S (2008): Treatment options for head trauma patients. In: Proceedings of 33rd World Small Animal Veterinary Congress. WSAVG, Dublin.
- Platt S, Freeman C, Beltran E (2016): Canine head trauma: an update. In Practice 38, 3–8.
- Platt SR, Olby NJ (2004): Neurological emergencies. In: Platt SR, Olby NJ (eds): BSAVA Manual of Canine and Feline Neurology. 4th edn. BSAVA. 320–336.
- Portella G, Cormio M, Citerio G, Contant C, Kiening K, Enblad P, Piper I (2005): Continuous cerebral compliance monitoring in severe head injury: its relationship with intracranial pressure and cerebral perfusion pressure. Acta Neurochirurgica 147, 707–713.
- Rabelo RC (2008): Study and prognostic value of the parameters related to survival in an emergency clinic of small animals: multicenter study (in Spanish). [PhD Thesis.] Universidad Complutense de Madrid, Facultad de Veterinaria, Madrid. 256 pp.
- Rabelo RC, Machado TV, Queiroz IM (2010): Treatment of severe head trauma using nonsurgical abdominal decompression in dog: case report. Revista Cientifica Eletronica de Medicina Veterinaria 8, 65–71.
- Rainey A, Odunayo A (2015): Traumatic brain injury. Clinicians Brief. Available at www.cliniciansbrief.com/article/traumatic-brain-injury (Accessed: December 30, 2016).
- Raslan A, Bhardwaj A (2007): Medical management of cerebral edema. Neurosurgery Focus 22, 1–11.
- Roberts D, Hall R, Kramer A (2012): Sedation for critically ill adults with severe traumatic brain injury: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Critical Care Medicine 39, 2743–2751.
- Sadaka F, Veremakis C (2012): Therapeutic hypothermia for the management of intracranial hypertension in severe traumatic brain injury: a systematic review. Brain Injury 26, 899–908.
- Sanchez EC (2013): Mechanisms of action of hyperbaric oxygenation in stroke: a review. Critical Care Nurse 36, 290–298.
- Sande A, West C (2010): Traumatic brain injury: a review of pathophysiology and management. Journal of the Veterinary Emergency and Critical Care 20, 177–190.

- Seim III HBS (2007): Surgery of the encephalon (in Portuguese). In: Fossum TW (ed.): Surgery of Small Animals. 3rd edn. Elsevier, Sao Paulo. 1379–1397.
- Silva AB (2013): Radiographic approach of clinical emergencies of polytraumatized dogs and cats treated at the Veterinary Hospital of the Federal University of Campina Grande (in Portuguese). Course completion work in Veterinary Medicine. 46 pp. Available at www.cstr.ufcg.edu. br/grad_med_vet/mono_2013_2/monografia_adriano_baltazar_da_silva.pdf.
- Siqueira EGM, Rahal SC, Vassalo FG, Araujo FAP, Agostinho FS (2013): Traumatic brain injury in small animals (in Portuguese). Veterinaria Zootecnia 20, 112–123.
- Stocchetti N, Maas AIR, Chieregato A, Van der Plas AA (2005): Hyperventilation in head injury: a review. American College of Chest Physicians 127, 1812–1827.
- Syring RS, Otto CM, Drobatz KJ (2001): Hyperglycemia in dogs and cats with head trauma: 122 cases (1997–1999). Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association 218, 1124–1129.
- Thomas WB (2003): Seizures and narcolepsy. In: Dewey CW (ed.): A Practical Guide to Canine and Feline Neurology. Blackwell Publishing, Iowa. 193–212.

- Timofeev I, Czosnyka M, Nortje J, Smielewski P, Kirkpatrick P, Gupta A, Hutchinson P (2008): Effect of decompressive craniectomy on intracranial pressure and cerebrospinal compensation following traumatic brain injury. Journal of Neurosurgery 108, 66–73.
- Vandevelde M (2004): Molecular mechanisms in CNS injury The importance of therapeutic modification of cytokine expression in the brains of domestic animals. Veterinary Journal 168, 205–206.
- Varella-Hernandez A, Cerron-Rojas V, Herrera O, Infante J, Garcia-Calzada J, Casares FC, Morciego S (2002): Endocranial hypertension (in Spanish). Review of Neuroscience 34, 1116–1152.
- Verneau K (2005): Management of head trauma. In: Proceedings of Veterinary Neurology Annual Symposium. VNAS, Davis.
- White JRM, Farukhi Z, Bull C, Christensen J, Gordon T, Paidas C, Nichols DG (2001): Predictors of outcome in severely head-injured children. Critical Care Medicine 29, 534–540.
- Yates D, Roberts I (2000): Corticosteroids in head injury. British Medical Journal 321, 128–129.

Received: February 9, 2017 Accepted after corrections: June 1, 2018